IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

FILED

PARKS, ET AL.,

NOV - 1 2010

PLAINTIFFS AND APPELLANTS,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

VS.

Deputy

MBNA AMERICA BANK, N.A.,

DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE
DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, CASE NO. G040798
REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF ORANGE
CASE NO. 04CC00598
THE HONORABLE GAIL S. ANDLER, JUDGE

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

ARNOLD & PORTER LLP Nancy L. Perkins* 555 Twelfth Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20004 Telephone: (202) 942-5000

Facsimile: (202) 942-5999

*Admitted pro hac vice

ARNOLD & PORTER LLP

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

In this action, Appellant Allan Parks sought to enforce Civil Code section 1748.9 ("§ 1748.9") against Defendant and Respondent MBNA America Bank, N.A. ("MBNA"), a national bank chartered and regulated by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") pursuant to the National Bank Act ("NBA") (12 U.S.C. § 21 et seq.). Section 1748.9 requires banks in California to make certain disclosures in offering "convenience check" loans to credit card customers. In the decision below (the "Decision"), the Court of Appeal – explicitly refusing to follow the decision of the Ninth Circuit in a near-identical case – reversed the trial court's judgment that Parks' attempted use of the "unlawful" prong of California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.) to enforce § 1748.9 against MBNA was preempted by the NBA and the OCC's implementing regulations, in particular 12 C.F.R. § 7.4008 ("Section 7.4008").

As set forth in the Petition for Review, the issues presented for review are:

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in holding that § 1748.9 is not preempted on its face by the NBA under well-established principles articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court, thereby creating a direct conflict with Ninth Circuit law, which has reached precisely the opposite result on the same legal issue in a recent case involving near-identical allegations.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in holding that the OCC, a federal agency within the U.S. Department of the Treasury, lacked authority to promulgate Section 7.4008 and, therefore, that Section

Through change of name, MBNA America Bank, N.A. is now known as FIA Card Services, N.A. It remains a national bank. (AA 1317-19.)

7.4008 does not preempt § 1748.9, even though both California and federal courts have previously applied that regulation and parallel regulations to preempt application of particular state-law limitations on the exercise by national banks of their federally granted lending powers.

Both questions should be answered in the affirmative.

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal fundamentally misconstrued NBA preemption jurisprudence established over more than a century, creating its own restrictive theory of NBA preemption nowhere present in the governing case law. While citing landmark NBA preemption cases decided by the U.S. Supreme Court, including *Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.* (2007) 550 U.S. 1, *Barnett Bank v. Nelson* (1996) 517 U.S. 25, and *Franklin National Bank v. New York* (1954) 347 U.S. 373, the Court of Appeal ignored the core principles underlying those decisions. As the U.S. Supreme Court determined in all three cases, a state law *of any type* – including a state statute imposing particular disclosure mandates – whose application to a national bank would impair, burden, obstruct, or otherwise limit the national bank's ability to exercise fully its federally authorized powers is preempted by the NBA. Under that precedent, Parks' attempt to enforce § 1748.9 against MBNA is plainly preempted.

To reach its contrary holding, the Court of Appeal had to create a direct split of authority with the Ninth Circuit on this fundamental issue of federal law. In Rose v. Chase Bank USA, N.A. (9th Cir. 2008) 513 F.3d 1032, a case involving the same California statute at issue here, in the context of an identical claim against a national bank, a unanimous panel of the the Ninth Circuit held the NBA and the OCC's regulations preempted § 1748.9. The court in Rose, following Watters, Barnett Bank, and Franklin, held that state law could not be used to require a national bank's

adherence to § 1748.9, because the NBA explicitly grants federally chartered banks the power to loan money on personal security without limitation by state law. (Rose, 513 F.3d. at p. 1037.) Because the power to loan money on personal security is the power pursuant to which a national bank extends credit to its cardholders via convenience checks, and because there is no indication that Congress intended that power to be subject to local restriction, the Rose court held "the NBA preempts the disclosure requirements of [§] 1748.9, insofar as those requirements apply to national banks." (Id. at p. 1038.) Further, the Rose court held the OCC's regulation expressly preempting state requirements for specific credit-related disclosures, Section 7.4008, also preempts the application of § 1748.9 to a national bank. (Ibid.)

Expicitly acknowledging that it was rejecting this directly relevant decision of the highest federal court in the same jurisdiction, the Court of Appeal "reluctant[ly]" opined that the authorities it deemed relevant "require[d]" it to deviate from *Rose*. (*Parks v. MBNA America Bank*, *N.A.*(2010) 109 Cal.Rptr.3d 248, 260.) The relevant authorities, however, in no way support – much less compel – a result contrary to *Rose*.

Indeed, to reach its preemption result, the Court of Appeal had to reject not only *Rose* but, also, the underpinnings of the rulings of the U.S. Supreme Court and lower courts in cases dating back to the enactment of the NBA. By ruling that § 1748.9, a state statute overtly targeted at the business of banking, may be applied to MBNA, the Decision invites states other than California to impose their own, individual and potentially conflicting disclosure requirements on national banks. Yet, state law requirements such as those in § 1748.9, "'if permitted to be applicable [to a national bank], might impose limitations and restrictions as various and as numerous as the States.'" (*Watters*, 550 U.S. at p. 14, quoting *Easton v. Iowa* (1903) 188 U.S. 220, 229.) Such a result is directly at odds with

Congress' objectives for NBA preemption of state law: to enable national banks to operate under the "conditions for uniformity and efficiency that would otherwise obtain." (*Smiley v. Citibank* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 138, 158, aff'd, (1996) 517 U.S. 735.)² As the *Watters* Court confirmed: "Diverse and duplicative superintendence of national banks' engagement in the business of banking is precisely what the NBA was designed to prevent." (*Watters*, 550 U.S. at pp. 13-14.)

The Court of Appeal ignored these fundamental and well-established principles, creating a test for NBA preemption that, if adopted by this Court and other courts, will inevitably "subject [national banks] to the varying laws of the several states — a result that might 'throw into confusion the complex system of modern interstate banking' " (Smiley, 11 Cal.4th at p. 158, quoting Marquette Nat'l Bank v. First of Omaha Corp. (1978) 439 U.S. 299, 312.) According to the Court of Appeal, a determination that the NBA preempts state law requires a factual showing that the state law "forbid[s]" or "significantly impairs" the exercise of national banks' banking powers. (109 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 255, 257.) The notion that a "factual record" is required to show preemption not only has no basis in

The Court may question whether the recently enacted Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (DFA) (Pub. L. No. 111-203 (July 21, 2010)), has any impact on this case. The answer is no. The DFA provides for *prospective* amendment of the NBA, and thus does not apply to Parks' claims, filed in 2004, seeking restitution under California statutory law. (See DFA § 1048; Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, Designated Transfer Date, 75 Fed. Reg. 57,252 (Sept. 20, 2010) [designating July 21, 2011, as the effective date of the NBA amendments].) Moreover, when the DFA amendments to the NBA take effect, they reinforce the very same principles that compel preemption of § 1748.9 today. The DFA expressly embraces the *Barnett Bank* standards for preemption, upon which the Ninth Circuit relied in *Rose* and which dictate a decision consistent with *Rose* in this case. (See DFA § 1044 [standards to be codified at 12 U.S.C. § 25b(b)(1)(B)].)

NBA preemption case law, but is flatly at odds with both the very nature of preemption and its underlying policy rationale.

As this Court has explained, "federal preemption presents a pure question of law." (*In re Farm Raised Salmon Cases* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1077, 1089 fn.10 (2008), cert. den. *sub nom. Albertson's Inc. v. Kanter* (2009) 129 S.Ct. 896, citing *Spielholz v. Super. Ct.* (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1371.) The Court of Appeal's view that factual evidence is needed to "prove" preemption runs directly contrary to that well-recognized principle. Further, the practical consequences of the Decision are wholly at odds with the objectives of federal preemption. If the NBA's preemptive effect can be determined only by requiring each individual national bank to produce evidentiary proof of costs and related burdens, NBA preemption rulings would have virtually no precedential value. This is hardly what Congress intended in seeking federal regulation of national banks to ensure they operate under "conditions for uniformity and efficiency." (*Smiley*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 158.)

The Court of Appeal's errors regarding the interpretation and application of the NBA's preemptive effect are not the only reason this Court should reverse the Decision. The Court of Appeal also held, in conflict with a very substantial body of federal and state court case law, that the OCC lacked the power to promulgate Section 7.4008 – despite the fact that, as the Court of Appeal itself expressly acknowledged, Section 7.4008 underwent all of the proper rulemaking procedures required by federal law to promulgate a regulation. That holding implicates not only Section 7.4008, but also the other preemption regulations adopted by the OCC (12 C.F.R. §§ 7.4007, 7.4009, and 34.4). The *Parks* court is the *only* court – out of dozens, including the Ninth and Sixth Circuits, appellate courts of other states, and even the California Court of Appeal in other cases – that has failed to treat those regulations as valid. (See, e.g., *Miller v. Bank of*

Am., N.A. (U.S.A.) (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 980, 987-88; Smith v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 1463, 1481-83; Martinez v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg., Inc. (9th Cir. 2010) 598 F.3d 549, 555-58; Monroe Retail, Inc. v. RBS Citizens, N.A. (6th Cir. 2009) 589 F.3d 274, 281-83; Patterson v. Citifinancial Mtg. Corp. (Mich. Ct. App. May 25, 2010, No. 287370), -N.W.2d-[2010 WL 2076774]; Citibank v. Eckmeyer 2009-Ohio-2435, appeal not allowed (2009) 123 Ohio St.3d 1424 [914 N.E.2d 1064]; Citibank v. Palma (N.C.Ct.App. 2007) 184 N.C.App. 504, 507 [646 S.E.2d 635, 638].)

The conflicts between the Decision and *Rose*, and NBA preemption precedent before and after *Rose*, should not be perpetuated. The Decision affects thousands of national banks, disrupting a scheme of federal regulation upon which they and their regulators rely. It also invites pernicious consequences, including forum shopping, which this Court has recognized flow from inconsistent federal and state court rulings on a single legal question. (See *Barrett v. Rosenthal* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 33, 58 ["Adopting a rule of liability. . . that diverges from the rule announced in [federal court] . . . would be an open invitation to forum shopping by defamation plaintiffs"].) For all of these reasons, the Decision should be reversed.

BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The Trial Court Proceedings

On June 30, 2004, Parks filed the instant putative class action against MBNA in the Superior Court. (AA 55.)³ MBNA is, and has been since 1991, a federally chartered national bank. (AA 127, 1319.) In its capacity as a national bank, MBNA offers loans to its customers nationwide,

³ "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix.

including in California. Parks sued MBNA individually and purportedly on behalf of a putative California class of MBNA customers. (AA 58-61.)

Parks asserted a single cause of action against MBNA, alleging that MBNA violated the "unlawful" prong of the UCL by failing to include in its "convenience check" loan offers the informational disclosures uniquely mandated by § 1748.9. (AA 63.) Parks never alleged any deceptive or fraudulent conduct on the part of MBNA.

A "convenience check" loan is extended by use of a "preprinted check or draft" (a "convenience check"), which banks typically mail to credit card customers with a monthly account statement or in a separate mailing with an enclosed offer. (See *Rose*, 513 F.3d at pp. 1034-35 [describing convenience checks].)

Under § 1748.9, a convenience check offer made in California by a credit card issuer must include all of the following disclosures, in "clear and conspicuous" language, on "the front of an attachment to the checks":

- 1) that "use of the attached check or draft will constitute a charge against your credit account;"
- 2) the annual percentage rate and the calculation of finance charges associated with the use of the attached check or draft; and
- 3) whether the finance charges are triggered immediately upon the use of the check or draft.

(Civ. Code § 1748.9.)

Parks alleged that MBNA's convenience check offers failed to conform to all of these California law requirements and, thus, that MBNA engaged in "unlawful" conduct in violation of the UCL. (AA 63.) Parks relied solely on the "unlawful" prong of the UCL, which incorporates other laws and treats violations of those laws as independently actionable under the UCL.

In response, MBNA moved for judgment on the pleadings based on federal preemption. First, MBNA asserted Parks' suit was *expressly* preempted by Section 7.4008, which provides state laws that "obstruct, impair, or condition a national bank's ability to fully exercise its Federally authorized non-real estate lending powers," including those "requiring *specific statements, information, or other content*" in "*credit solicitations*," are "not applicable to national banks." (12 C.F.R. § 7.4008(d)(1), (d)(2)(viii), italics added.) Second, MBNA contended Parks' suit was *impliedly* preempted by the NBA, because Parks sought to *condition* MBNA's exercise of its power to "loan[] money on personal security," (12 U.S.C. § 24[Seventh]), upon compliance with § 1748.9. (AA 114-17.)

B. The Ninth Circuit's Decision in Rose

While Parks' claims were pending in the trial court, the Ninth Circuit decided *Rose*. The Ninth Circuit affirmed the *Rose* district court's judgment in favor of Chase Manhattan Bank USA, N.A. ("Chase") with respect to an identical claim of violation of the "unlawful" practices prong of the UCL as Parks asserted in this case (as well as claims under the UCL's "unfair" and "deceptive" practices prongs). (*Rose*, 513 F.3d at pp. 1037-38.)

Relying on the U.S. Supreme Court's controlling opinions in Watters, Barnett Bank, and Franklin, the Ninth Circuit held the UCL could not be used to require a national bank's adherence to § 1748.9, because the NBA explicitly grants federally chartered banks the power to loan money on personal security without limitation by state law. (Rose, 513 F.3d at p. 1037.) In so doing, the Ninth Circuit expressly addressed and rejected the suggestion that an evidentiary showing is required as part of a preemption analysis. Noting the Rose plaintiffs' request for a remand to the district court for "discovery regarding the issue of whether the state law constitutes a 'significant' impairment or interference with the purposes of

the National Bank Act," the Ninth Circuit held that the preemptive scope of the NBA is appropriate for determination on a pleading motion and that an evidentiary showing of interference or burden is not needed. (See *id.* at p. 1038 fn.4 ["Given the prior holdings of *Barnett Bank* and *Franklin*, . . . it appears that no amount of discovery would change the central holding that Congress intended for the NBA to preempt state restrictions on national banks such as Cal. Civ. Code § 1748.9 here"].)

The Ninth Circuit also explicitly affirmed the district court's decision that Section 7.4008 preempted the plaintiffs' claims. (See *id.* at p. 1038 ["from the face of Plaintiffs' complaint, the district court correctly found that . . . Plaintiffs' UCL claims . . . are preempted by the NBA and *OCC regulations*"], citing *Rose v. Chase Manhattan Bank USA* (C.D. Cal. 2005) 396 F.Supp.2d 1116, 1123, italics added.)

Following *Rose*, the trial court below granted MBNA's motion for judgment on the pleadings, holding that, on its face, § 1748.9 is preempted as applied to MBNA. (AA 1562-63.) Parks timely appealed.

C. The Court of Appeal's Decision

The Court of Appeal expressly rejected *Rose* and reversed the trial court's judgment for MBNA. (109 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 260.) While recognizing that "[i]n all material respects, *Rose* is factually identical to the case before us," and that, even when they are not directly on point, "federal decisions may be particularly persuasive when they interpret federal law," the Court of Appeal constructed its own, novel reading of the NBA, contrary to *Rose* and the U.S. Supreme Court authorities relied on in *Rose*. (*Id.* at p. 251, 253-57.)

According to the Court of Appeal, because § 1748.9 does not *forbid* the exercise of a banking power authorized by the NBA, it does not, on its face, conflict with the NBA. The Court of Appeal also found that, although a state law may be preempted by the NBA even if the state law does not

have a prohibitive effect, such preemption depends on *evidentiary* proof that the state law "*significantly impairs*" an NBA-authorized national banking power. (*Id.* at p. 257.) Despite the contrary rulings of many other courts (including *Rose*) dismissing state law claims as preempted by the NBA based solely on the pleadings, the Court of Appeal held that MBNA would have to marshal factual evidence to prove that § 1748.9, as applied to MBNA, "significantly impairs" MBNA's power to loan money on personal security. (*Id.* at p. 255-56, 257.)

The Court of Appeal went on to reject the alternative basis for preemption relied on by MBNA and by the Ninth Circuit in *Rose*: express preemption by Section 7.4008. The Court of Appeal explicitly acknowledged: "It is clear that [Section 7.4008], if valid, expressly preempts section 1748.9." (*Id.* at p. 258.) The Court of Appeal also explicitly acknowledged the "OCC had authority to issue regulations interpreting the preemptive effect of the NBA and other federal law on state law with regard to national banks." (*Id.*) Further, the Court of Appeal expressly acknowledged that the OCC "follow[ed] the proper procedures in enacting [Section 7.4008]." (*Id.*) Yet, despite this specific recognition, and the undisputed understanding that "'Federal regulations may preempt state law just as fully as federal statutes," "(*id.* at p. 257, quoting *Miller*, 170 Cal.App.4th at p. 984), the Court of Appeal declared Section 7.4008 invalid for lack of OCC regulatory authority. (*Id.* at p. 260.)

While expressing "reluctan[ce] to create a split of authority with the Ninth Circuit on a point of federal law," the Court of Appeal reached a decision directly contrary to *Rose*, holding that "there is no basis for preempting section 1748.9 without a factual record." (*Id.*)

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FAILING TO FOLLOW THIS COURT'S DIRECTIVES IN FAVOR OF UNIFORMITY OF DECISION.

As the Court of Appeal explicitly recognized, under this Court's well-settled precedent, the courts of California may – and in certain cases should – follow relevant Ninth Circuit precedent on issues controlled by federal law. (See 109 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 251, citing *Etcheverry v. Tri-Ag Service, Inc.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 316, 320-321, rev'd on another ground *sub nom. Bates v. Dow Agrosciences LLC* (2005) 544 U.S. 431, 437, 452; see also *People v. Bradley* (1969) 1 Cal.3d 80, 86.) Where a California state court is faced with a question of federal law in a factual setting *identical* to one already addressed by the Ninth Circuit, as is the case here, the policy reasons for adherence to the federal court's decision are exceptionally compelling. (See, e.g., *Mech. Contractors Ass'n v. Greater Bay Area Ass'n* (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 672, 683 ["were we to adopt a rule different from the Ninth Circuit, we would encourage California litigants to forum shop between California's federal and state courts This is a relevant and important consideration that supports adopting the [Ninth Circuit's] rule"].)

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