Case No. S183703

SUPREME COURT

CRC FEB - 1 2011 8.25(b) Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ALLAN PARKS

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

MBNA AMERICA BANK, N.A.,

Defendant and Respondent

After Decision by Fourth District - Division Three Court of Appeal (Case No. G040798) Reversing Judgment by Orange County Superior Court (Case No. 04CC00598), The Honorable Gail S. Andler Presiding

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL R. VACHON, ESQ.
Michael R. Vachon, Esq. SBN: 206447
16935 West Bernardo Road, Suite 175
San Diego, California 92127
Telephone: (858) 674-4100

Facsimile: (858) 674-4222

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Federal Cases

Atherton v. FDIC, 519 U.S. 213 (1997) 12, 13, 21, 37, 40

Anderson National Bank v. Luckett, 321 U.S. 233 (1944) 22, 39

Barnett Bank, N.A. v. Nelson, 517 U.S. 25 (1996)

3, 7, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 19, 20, 21, 23, 35, 36, 37, 42

Bowen v. Georgetown University Hospital, 488 U.S. 204 (1988) 24, 34

Capital Cities Cable, Inc. v. Crisp, 467 U.S. 691 (1984) 28, 30

Cuomo v. Clearing House Ass'n, L.L.C., 129 S.Ct. 2710 (2009) 4, 7, 24, 25, 38

Davis v. Elmira Savings Bank, 161 U.S. 275 (1896) 22

Fidelity Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n v. De la Cuesta, 458 U.S. 141 (1982) 16, 18, 28, 29, 30

First National Bank v. Dickinson, 396 U.S. 122 (1969)

First National Bank v. Missouri, 263 U.S. 640, (1924) 14, 35, 39, 40

Franklin National Bank v. New York, 347 U.S. 373 (1954) 16, 17

Gade v. National Solid Wastes Management Ass'n, 505 U.S. 88 (1992) 21

Graves v. New York, 306 U.S. 466 (1939) 41

Lawrence County v. Lead-Deadwood School Dist. No. 40-1, 469 U.S. 256 (1985) 16, 19

Louisiana Public Service Comm'n v. FCC, 476 U.S. 355 (1986) 26

McClellan v. Chipman, 164 U.S. 347 (1896) 11, 21, 27

McCulloch v. Maryland, 17 U.S. 316 (1819) 41

Rose v. Chase Manhattan Bank USA, N.A., 513 F.3d 1032 (9th Cir. 2008) 37

State by Lord v. First National Bank of St. Paul, 313 N.W.2d 390 (Minn. 1981) 39

State v. First National Bank of Portland, 61 Ore. 551 (1912) 39

United States v. Locke, 529 U.S. 89 (2007) 9, 10,

Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 550 U.S. 1 (2008) 4, 25, 31

Wyeth v. Levine, 129 S.Ct. 1187 (2009) 32, 33

California Cases

Bank of America v. Lallana, 19 Cal. App. 4th 203 (1998) 22

Bronco Wine Co. v. Jolly, 33 Cal. App. 4th 943 (2004) 9,

Etcheverry v. Tri Ag Service, Inc., 22 Cal. 4th 316 (2000) 11,

Parks v. MBNA America Bank, N.A., 184 Cal. App. 4th 652 (2010) 7, 8,

Peatros v. Bank of America, 22 Cal.4th 147 (2000) 39

Perdue v. Crocker National Bank, 38 Cal. 3d 913 (1985) 3, 14, 24, 35, 39

Smiley v. Citibank (South Dakota) N.A., 11 Cal. 4th 138 (1995) 9,

Stone Street Capital, LLC v. California State Lottery Commission, 165 Cal. App. 4th 109 (2008) 8,

Torrance National Bank v. Enesco Federal Credit Union, 134 Cal. App. 2d 316 (1955) 22

Statutes & Rules

12 C.F.R. 4.000 24

12 C.F.R. 7.4008(d) 3, 4, 7, 23, 32, 33, 34, 35

12 C.F.R. 226.16 5,

44 Stat. 1228 40

12 U.S.C. §24 (Seventh) 12, 20,

12 U.S.C. §43 30, 31, 32

12 U.S.C. §43(a) 26

12 U.S.C. §93a 26, 27, 28, 29, 30

12 U.S.C. §1462 et seq. 28

12 U.S.C. §1464(a)(1) 29

12 U.S.C. §1821(k) 13,

12 U.S.C. §4312 13,

15 U.S.C. §1601 et seq. 5, 13,

15 U.S.C. §1610(a) 13,

15 U.S.C. §1693(q) 13,

15 U.S.C. §6870 13,

30 U.S.C. §1254(g) 27

47 U.S.C. §253(a) 27, 30

47 U.S.C. §253(d) 27, 30

49 U.S.C. §5125(d) 27

Business & Professional Code §17200 6

Civil Code §1624 22,

Civil Code §1748.9 3, 5, 6, 9, 13, 14, 15, 20, 21, 22, 23,

27

Civil Code §1748.9(a)

Civil Code §1748.9(a)(1) 5,

Civil Code §1748.9(a)(2) 5,

Civil Code §1748.9(a)(3) 5,

Commercial Code §9504(3) 22

Financial Code §953 22,

I. SUMMARY

The decision in this case is of utmost constitutional importance. Despite controlling California and U.S. Supreme Court decisions stating that field preemption does <u>not</u> exist in the regulation of national banks, MBNA is now attempting to obliquely achieve its functional equivalent. Quite simply, if (as MBNA argues) States are not permitted to impose any conditions whatsoever on national bank lending activities, that **will be** field preemption - and California will be without authority to protect its residents from predatory lending and other unfair banking practices.

Despite the repercussions that will flow from giving MBNA what it now seeks, the Court will notice that there is one thing conspicuously missing from MBNA's brief: it contains no direct evidence whatsoever of a Congressional intent to preempt State banking laws. MBNA fails to quote a single federal statute showing a clear intent to preempt State lending laws. The reason for this is simple: Congress never intended this type preemption.

Rather than presenting direct evidence of *Congressional* intent, what MBNA has done instead is attempt to overwhelm this Supreme Court with a barrage of quotations (many of which are either *dicta* or misleadingly taken out of context) from *other courts* in an attempt to argue that Congress intended the National Bank Act ("NBA") to preempt State lending laws.

Every child in kindergarten has played the game of "telephone," in which the teacher whispers a message into one student's ear, then that student whispers it to someone else, who whispers it to someone else, and so on. Ultimately, the final recipient of the message announces what he or she was told, only to

reveal (often with comic results) that it is nothing like the teacher's original statement.

For the past decade, the banking industry has successfully (at least so far) convinced lower federal and State courts to engage in a game of "telephone" in which, one after another, the courts issued decisions regarding NBA preemption that failed to look for direct evidence of Congressional intent. The banking industry convinced these courts to issue decisions based *solely* on the edited statements of *other courts*. This is <u>not</u> evidence of Congressional intent.

Like any game of "telephone," the message becomes distorted. In this case, the original message came from the California and the U.S. Supreme Courts - both of which unequivocally rejected the argument that field preemption exists in the field of national banking. However, MBNA is now attempting to argue (citing numerous cases decided based on the "telephone" method) that States may not impose *any conditions whatsoever* on a national bank's exercise of its powers. This is the practical equivalent of field preemption.

Since the question of federal preemption requires a finding of *Congressional* intent, the legal analysis must <u>not</u> consist *solely* of examining what *other courts* have said. Once courts cease looking to Congressional actions as the basis for inferring Congressional intent, the "telephone" effect begins, and over time the analysis becomes distorted. This has the most sinister constitutional implications.

If courts cease looking to Congressional acts as the basis for inferring Congressional intent, this could permit an industry with sufficient financial and legal resources to overwhelm courts with a barrage of misleading quotations from previous preemption decisions that would, over time (as a result of the "telephone" effect),

create a fabricated myth of Congressional intent where none actually existed. Financially well-heeled defendants could gradually, but effectively, place themselves above the law.

Moreover, if Congress actually intended a federal statute to preempt State laws, then there is no reason why a preemption proponent would be unable to cite directly to Congressional actions demonstrating the preemptive intent.

The established test for NBA preemption was enunciated in *Barnett Bank v. Nelson*. That test asks whether or not the State law prohibits or effectively frustrates a bank's ability to conduct lending operations. The statute at issue here, Civil Code Section 1748.9 is nothing more than a specific State contract law that prescribes the format of offers to enter into certain types of credit contracts. It neither prohibits nor frustrates a bank's ability to lend - in fact, it imposes no restrictions whatsoever on the credit terms that banks can offer via their "convenience checks." It merely requires that those terms (whatever they are) be prominently disclosed.

MBNA's brief goes too far when it attempts to suggest: (1) that Congress intended to create a "uniform" set of national bank laws; (2) that the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the "O.C.C.") was granted "plenary" power to preempt State laws; and (3) that the NBA prohibits any State law "conditions" of any kind on national bank powers. The contentions are refuted by controlling Supreme Court decisions.

Finally, MBNA's attempt to rely on 12 C.F.R. 7.4008(d) (a regulation that was promulgated *solely* for the purpose of preempting all State disclosure laws) is unavailing because the California and U.S. Supreme Court decisions in *Perdue v. Crocker*

National Bank, Cuomo v. Clearing House Ass'n, LLC, and Watters v. Wachovia have held that the O.C.C. does <u>not</u> have authority to issue regulations solely for the purpose of preempting State laws.

II. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED HEREIN

As stated above, a primary issue addressed in this case is whether the O.C.C. possesses authority to promulgate 12 C.F.R. §7.4008(d), a regulation which purports to define the types of State laws that are preempted by the NBA. To avoid confusion, this Answer Brief on the Merits will use the term "General Preemptive Authority" (or alternatively "General Preemptive Power") to describe an agency power to delineate which State laws are preempted, and which are not, in a regulation issued solely for that purpose (such as A General Preemptive Power is C.F.R. 7.4008(d)). distinguishable from Congressional authority to perform a specific task (e.g., interpreting a term in an enabling statute) which will have the effect of preempting contrary State laws. While an agency doing the latter could be said to have "preemptive power," that would not constitute a General Preemptive Power, as that term is used herein.1

III. <u>FACTS</u>

A. Nature of the Trial Court Action

1. Parks Alleges That MBNA Has an Unlawful Practice of Sending Consumers "Convenience Checks" Without the Disclosures Required by Civil Code Section 1748.9

Defendant and Respondent MBNA America Bank, N.A. ("MBNA") is a national banking association organized under the

¹ Cases discussing whether an agency has General Preemptive Authority are distinguishable from and should not be confused with decisions holding that properly promulgated regulations may have a preemptive *effect*. *Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 550 U.S. 1, 40 n. 24 (2007) (Stevens dissent).

laws of the United States. It is the largest credit card issuing bank in the United States. Vol. 1, APL 00057, ln. 7-8.² Plaintiff and Appellant Allan Parks ("Parks") is one of MBNA's millions of California credit cardholders. Vol. 1, APL 00061, ln. 17-18.

Parks alleges that MBNA has a practice of sending its California cardholders so-called "convenience checks" (*i.e.*, preprinted drafts that cardholders can use like checks, with all purchases being charged to their credit card accounts). Vol. 1, APL 00061, ln. 19-23. Under California Civil Code Section 1748.9, convenience checks sent to California cardholders must contain the following three disclosures:³

- whether or not finance charges will begin to incur immediately upon use of the checks (*i.e.*, without the interest-free "grace period" typically applicable to credit card transactions) (Civil Code §1748.9(a)(3));
- 2. the statement "Use of the attached check or draft will constitute a charge against your credit account" (Civil Code §1748.9(a)(1)); and
- 3. the disclosures required by 12 C.F.R. §226.16, regardless of whether 12 C.F.R. §226.16 would otherwise apply (Civil Code §1748.9(a)(2)).4

Civil Code Section 1748.9 does not expressly mention national banks. Rather, it applies to *all* credit card issuers, regardless of whether they are national banks, banks organized under California

² Herein, citations to Parks's Appendix will be in the format Vol. x, APL 000xx. Thus, Vol. 1, APL 00057, ln. 7-8, means Volume 1 of Appellant's Appendix, page APL 00057, at lines 7 - 8.

³ Specifically, the disclosures must appear on the front of an attachment to the check, that may be joined to the check by a perforation. Civ. Code 1748.9(a).

⁴ 12 C.F.R. 226.16 is contained in "Regulation Z," which was promulgated under the federal Truth in Lending Act (12 U.S.C. §1601 *et seq.*). 12 C.F.R. 226.16 describes the consumer credit disclosures that must accompany various types of credit advertisements.

law, or banks organized under the laws of another State. Civ. Code. §1748.9.

Parks is one of millions of Californians who received MBNA convenience checks that failed to comply with Civil Code Section 1748.9, and who incurred undisclosed finance charges as a result. Vol. 1, APL 00061, ln. 19 - APL00062, ln. 27.

Parks's complaint contains a single Business & Professions Code Section 17200 cause of action alleging that MBNA has an "unlawful" practice of mailing convenience checks to California cardholders that fail to comply with Civil Code Section 1748.9. Vol. 1, APL 00063, ln. 7-17. He asserts this claim as a class action on behalf of all Californians who received and used MBNA convenience checks since June 1, 2001. Vol. 1, APL 00058, ln. 7-11.

2. The Trial Court Granted MBNA's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings Because it Erroneously Concluded that the NBA Preempts Civil Code Section 1748.9

On March 19, 2008, MBNA served a motion for judgment on the pleadings, in which it argued that Civil Code Section 1748.9 is preempted by the NBA. Vol. 1, APL 00067-00085. This motion was initially scheduled for April 24, 2008, but was subsequently continued to May 8, 2008.

At the May 8, 2008 hearing, the trial court ordered the parties to provide supplemental briefing, and then continued the matter for a further hearing on May 15, 2008, at which time it took the matter under submission.

On May 29, 2008, the trial court issued a Minute Order stating that MBNA was entitled to judgment on the pleadings because the NBA and its enabling regulations preempt Civil Code Section 1748.9. Vol. 6, APL 001536-001537.

3. The Court of Appeal Reversed

On August 5, 2008, Parks filed a notice of appeal. Vol. 6, APL 001564. The appeal was subsequently briefed (including a supplemental round of briefing to address the impact of the recently decided U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Cuomo v. Clearing House Ass'n, L.L.C.*, 129 S.Ct. 2710 (2009)), and on May 12, 2010 the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, reversed. *Parks v. MBNA America Bank, N.A.*, 184 Cal.App.4th 652 (2010).

The Court of Appeal ruled that under controlling U.S. Supreme Court decisions, including *Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A. v. Nelson,* 517 U.S. 25 (1996), the preemption test is not whether the law causes "any" impairment of the exercise of banking powers; the test is whether such impairment is "significant." *Parks,* 184 Cal.App.4th at 663. The Court of Appeal further ruled:

[W]hen a state disclosure requirement does not, on its face, forbid or significantly impair national banks from exercising a power granted to it by Congress under the NBA, national banks claiming preemption must make a factual showing that the disclosure requirement significantly impairs the exercise of the relevant power or powers. Section 1748.9 does not, on its face, significantly impair federally authorized powers under the NBA. It consists of a brief disclosure requirement that applies only to convenience checks.

Id., at 665.

The *Parks* Court of Appeal also analyzed the issue of whether 12 C.F.R. 7.4008(d) is substantively valid. *Parks*, 184 Cal.App.4th at 665-669. It ruled that it was not, reasoning:

The language of [12 C.F.R. 7.4008(d)] does not suggest a reasonable attempt to describe and interpret the reach of NBA preemption. ... Rather, the regulation exempts national banks from all state disclosure requirements,

even though neither the NBA nor TILA expressed an intention to create this bright-line exemption.

. . .

[Accordingly, although] legislative rules issued by federal agencies can preempt state law, if such rules are within the power delegated to the agency by Congress ... [n]o authority, however, is provided by MBNA for the proposition that Congress has delegated the power to OCC to take administrative action whose sole purpose is to preempt state law rather than to implement a statutory command.

Parks, 184 Cal.App.4th at 668.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeal reversed. It is the review of that appellate decision that is currently before the Supreme Court in this proceeding.

IV. POINTS & AUTHORITIES

A. Standard of Review and Controlling Law

1. <u>De Novo Review is Appropriate</u>

An order granting a motion for judgment on the pleadings is reviewed de novo. Stone Street Capital, LLC v. California State Lottery Commission, 165 Cal. App. 4th 109, 116 (2008). On appeal from a judgment on the pleadings, an appellate court assumes the truth of, and liberally construes, all properly pleaded factual allegations in the complaint. Id. The reviewing court may consider evidence outside of the pleadings that was considered by the trial court without objection, and it may consider matters subject to judicial notice. Id.

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